
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT   
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA   

CASE NO..   

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, - COLD  
Plaintiff,  

v.  1  
1 INTAKE  

CHARLES 0 .  MORGAN, JR., as Personal 1  
Representative of THE ESTATE OF 1 BUG 2 3 20Q7  
FREDERICK J. KUNEN,   1 ,  

1  
Defendant.  1 

1 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission alleges: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Commission brings this action to fi-eeze assets and prevent Defendant Charles 

0.Morgan, Jr., as Personal Representative of The Estate of Frederick J. Kunen, from dissipating 

investors' assets associated with a fraudulent investment scheme operated by Frederick J. Kunen 

until his death on July 11, 2007. Starting no later than January 2007, Kunen pitched a sham 

index options trading program to primarily inexperienced investors with false promises that their 

principal would be safe. To entice investors, Kunen falsely represented his options trading --. 

program had an eight-year track record and guaranteed a 10% to 20%, risk-free, monthly return. 

-.In reality, investors lost all or nearly all of their invested principal, and Kunen profited by 

approximately $1 million of the $2.5 million he raised. 

2. In addition to the material misrepresentations and omissions described above, 

- m e n  defrauded investors into transferring funds to him-as compensation by misrepresenting he 

had made profitable trades on their behalf. Finally, Kunen failed to disclose to investors he was 
I 



convicted of securities fraud, and subsequently incarcerated for violating his probation by 

committing bank fraud. 

3. Kunen misappropriated approximately $1 million of his investors' money for his 

own coffers. Approximately $751,702 of investor funds remain in an E*Trade account under 

Kunen's name. Morgan recently contacted E*Trade and inquired about this money for the 

benefit of the Kunen Estate. Accordingly, in order to prevent the hrther dissipation of investor 

assets, the Commission seeks emergency relief in the form of an asset freeze, an order 

prohibiting the destruction of records, the appointment of a receiver, and an accounting from 

Morgan, as the Personal Representative ofthe Kunen Estate. 

DEFENDANT 

4. Defendant Charles 0.Morgan, Jr., 67, is the Personal Representative of the Kunen 

Estate. He is licensed to practice law in Florida, and maintains his own law office in the 

Southern District of Florida. The Kunen Estate came into existence upon Kunen's death on July 

11, 2007. Kunen was 55 years old. He resided in Coconut Creek, Florida. On October 29, 

2001, Kunen pled guilty to one count of securities fraud in connection with his participation in a 

Ponzi scheme. U.S. v. Frederick Kunen, Case No. 01-689-CR-MORENO. After serving a 

prison sentence in connection with his guilty plea, Kunen violated his probation in early 2004, 

and in August 2004 was sentenced to two years' imprisonment and re-incarcerated based on 

bank fraud charges. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(b), 20(d) and 

22(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"), 15 U.S.C. $$ 77t(b), 77t(d) and 77v(a); 

and Sections 2 1(d) and 27 of the Securities Exchange- Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act"), 15 U.S.C. 

$ 5  78u(d) and 78aa. 



6.  This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendant and venue is proper in 

the Southern District of Florida because many of Kunen's acts and transactions constituting 

violations of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act occurred in the Southern District of 

Florida. In addition, Kunen previously resided in the Southern District of Florida and the Kunen 

Estate was established in the Southern District of Florida. 

7. Kunen, directly and indirectly, has made use of the means and instrumentalities of 

interstate commerce, the means and instruments of transportation and communication in 

interstate commerce, and the mails, in connection with the acts, practices, and courses of 

business set forth in this Complaint. 

THE FRAUDULENT SCHEME 

I. Kunen's Options Trading Program 

8. From at least January 2007 through July 2007, Kunen raised approximately $2.5 

million fiom at least nineteen investors residing throughout the United States. Kunen preyed on 

unsophisticated investors, convincing them to participate in an options trading program he 

guaranteed would make 10%to 20% in monthly returns. 

9. Kunen offered the options trading program to prospective investors over the 

telephone, via e-mail, and by word-of-mouth through finders, whom Kunen compensated for 

,investor referrals. Targeting mainly individuals with little or no investment experience, Kunen - -

enticed them to invest in the options trading program by claiming their investments had no risk, 

andthey only had to compensate him a percentage of profits he obtained from each option trade. - - -- -

10. Kunen gave investors varying accounts of the success of his trading strategy and 

his background, including telling some investors he had an eight-year, successful track record, 

and he previously owned a brokerage firm. He never disclosed that, in reality, his index options " 

trading strategy was risky, or that he was a convicted felon for securities and bank fiaud. 



11. Kunen made the same guarantees of 10% to 20% monthly returns and risk-free 

principal in written materials he provided to potential investors. The written materials stated that 

Kunen personally guaranteed the principal amounts invested "regardless of any unfavorable 

market conditions." Kunen Wher  represented in writing that a $50,000 "minimum investment" 

in the options trading program would swell to approximately $35 million before taxes in three 

years. 

12. Once an individual decided to invest, Kunen required him or her to provide total 

access to their brokerage account in the investor's name with an online firm (initially E*Trade 

Securities LLC, and later TD Arneritrade). Kunen told some investors to open an account with 

margin, obtain login and password information, provide that information to Kunen, and then 

fund the account. Kunen or one of his intermediaries told others to give Kunen their personal 

information, including social security number. Kunen then used that information to establish a 

brokerage account on the investor's behalf. Kunen then relayed to the investor the account 

. information and directed the investor to fund the account. 

13. After the investor hnded the brokerage account, Kunen used the investor's login 

information to access the accounts and trade the available funds in index options. Kunen 

typically made two transactions of S&P 500 Index options in each investor's account to create a 

temporary illusory credit. The first part of Kunen's scheme involved the purchase of call option 

contracts that entitled Kunen, on behalf of the investor, to acquire shares of the S&P 500 Index at 

a certain price. This stated price, or "strike price," gave-Kunen, on behalf of the investor for 

whom he was trading, the right to buy the shares at a certain price when he exercised the options 

contract. The option contracts expired on a certain date after the day of purchase. 

14. The second part of Kunen's trading scheme involved the sale of a different option 

contract that would have to be covered in the future on or before the contract expired at a certain 



strike price. Until Kunen purchased matching option contracts to cover the sale, it was  

impossible to determine whether the transaction was profitable or unprofitable. In other words,   

the actual loss or profit fiom Kunen's trading of the respective investor's options contract could   

not be determined until after Kunen executed the second part of his trading strategy.   

15. In order to account for Kunen's options trading, E*Trade would create an 

immediate, temporary illusory credit in the investor's brokerage account. To execute his scheme 

to defraud, Kunen took advantage of this temporary illusory credit and contacted the investor 

whose account had the credit, either directly or through an intermediary, and informed them he 

had completed his trading strategy and it had resulted in a profit. Kunen knew, however, that the 

temporary illusory credits were unrealized and that no real profits occurred fiom his trading. 

16. Investors had no input in the investment decisions and no role in the management 

or operation of Kunen's trading strategy. 

17. The investors relied on Kunen's misrepresentations concerning his options trading 

program and his lies about the supposed profits. As part of his scheme, Kunen told investors 

they were entitled to keep up to a 20% investment return. Kunen required them to wire any 

additional profits to him or another party on his behalf as compensation for his trading. Based on 

Kunen's fraudulent misrepresentations, investors wired their hnds either directly into his 

E*Trade account, or fiom their personal bank accounts to a bank account he specified. 

18. To perpetuate his scheme, Kunen touted E*Trade account statements showing the 

ui-ireaiized credits. Because of the investors' inexperience and the relative complexity of - - -

Kunen's securities transactions, the investors could not decipher their account statements to 

understand that the credit in their accounts was only temporary and contingent on hture events. 

19. At certain times after trades had been made but before the options had expired, it 

may have appeared to investors their account balances were positive (reflecting unrealized profits). 



Because the trades created a temporary, positive spread-subject to change based on the 

expiration of the options-Kunen led investors to believe the spread was actually a fully realized 

profit. However, a review of the account balances after the expiration of the options Kunen 

purchased or sold in investors' accounts at E*tra.de shows none of the investors profited fiom 

Kunen's trading. 

20. For example, on January 30,2007, Kmen effected his index option strategy in an 

E*Trade investor's account. Prior to that date, the investor funded the account with $200,000. 
< 

Kunen purchased 200 S&P 500 Index call option contracts in the account with a strike price of 

1445 and expiring on February i7, 2007. Each contract cost $3.70, for a total of $74,155. That 

same day, the account sold short 200 S&l  500 Index call option contracts with a strike price of 

1435 and an expiration date of February 17,2007. 

21. Because Kunen sold option contracts, the account did not own an equivalent 

amount of the same option contract needed to be purchased to close the position. Once the 

position was closed the account would have a realized profit or loss. 

22. Kunefi sold thesecall options for $7.30, generating proceeds of $145,845. These 

two transactions resulted in an immediate, unrealized credit of $71,690 in the account. 

23. On or about January 30, 2007, Kunen told the investor the options trading 

program had generated approximately $72,000 in profits. Kunen directed the investor to wire 

approximately $32,000 to his mother, which, according to Kunen, represented the profit 

exceeding 20% of the investor2s original investmc-rit:- -The investor complied with Kunen's 

request and wired the funds. 

24. The option trades Kunen effected in this investor's account in the aggregate was 

equivalent to a bet on the downward direction of the S&P 500 Index over the following two 

weeks. Between January 30, 2007 and February 16, 2007, the S&P 500 Index rose 



- - --- -- - 

approximately 20 points. The investor's E*Trade account statements reflect the losses incurred 

as a result of the S&P 500 Index's advance. 

25. On February 16, 2007, Kunen sold the 200 S&P 500 Index 1445 call option 

contracts for $7.26 each, or total proceeds of $145,180. Thus, the 1445 call options netted 

$71,025 (the $145,180 sales proceeds minus the initial cost of $74,155). However, those 

$71,025 in gains were more than offset by the $199,375 the S&P Index 1435 call options lost 

(the 1435 call options Kunen purchased to cover the open position cost $17.26 each, or a total of 

$345,220, and only generated $145,845 when sold). Thus, the net loss in the account from all 

the trades was $128,350 in a little more than two weeks, far different than the $72,000 gain 

Kunen told the investor the trades had generated when executed. 

26. Virtually all the investors similarly lost all or nearly all of their entire principal. 

27. An investigation by E*Trade into Kunen's account there revealed Kunen used 

some of the investor money he received from January through April 2007 for what appear to be 

personal expenses. For example, using a debit card-associated with his E*Trade account, Kunerr 

made purchases totaling more than $150,000 at three jewelry stores. Kunen also wrote checks to 

a BMW car dealership for approximately $30,000, and a department store for approximately 

$10,000. He also wrote $23,500 in checks to individuals with the same last name as him, 

-
including his mother. Additionally, Kunen paid at least $50,000 to individuals who referred 

investors to him. 

.-- 28. Approximately $75 1,702 in investor h d s  remain in an E*Trade account -under- 

Kunen's name. 

29. Kunen died on July 11, 2007, in St. Maarten. On August 7, 2007, Morgan, as 

Personal Representative of the Kunen Estate, wrote to E*Trade inquiring about the funds remaining 

in Kunen's E*Trade account. 



11. Material Misrepresentations and Omissions in Connection with 
the Offer and Sale of the Options Trading Program 

30. In the process of soliciting investments, Kunen distributed written materials 

containing false statements and omissions. In addition, Kunen orally made these same false 

statements and omissions of material fact. The material misrepresentations and omissions 

include: 

A. Kunen's Background 

31. Kunen touted himself as a successful trader. In addition, he told investors he 

previously owned a brokerage firm. 

32. These statements were false and misleading because Kunen never owned a 

brokerage firm, failed to tell investors he was a convicted felon, and failed to tell investors he 

was incarcerated for some of the time he claimed he was successfully running the options trading 

program for other investors. 

B. Investments Were Not Risk-Free 

33. Kunen's written materials touted the options trading program as being risk-free. 

Kunen also told investors their investment was risk-fi-ee and that he personally would guarantee 

their principal. 

34. These statements were false and misleading because Kunen failed to tell investors 

the investments he made, which incl~aded~speculative index options trading, lost hundreds of 

thousands of dollars and did not provide safe or guaranteed returns. Realized investor losses 
- .  

from Kunen's options trading program were more than $1 million. 

35. Using this options trading program, Kunen received approximately $1 million in 

fraudulently obtained compensation from investors. 



C. The Options Trading Program Could Not Guarantee A 10% to 20% Return 

36. Written materials Kunen distributed to potential investors stated the trading 

program guaranteed an average monthly return of 10% to 20% of the principal. Also, Kunen 

made this statement orally to potential investors. 

37. These statements were false and misleading. Among other things, investing in 

index options by its nature involves undertaking risk. Thus Kunen could not guarantee a 10% to 

20% return on investments on a monthly basis. 

COUNT I 

FRAUD IN VIOLATION OF   
SECTION 17(a)(l) OF THE SECURITIES ACT   

38. The Commission repeats and realleges Paragraphs 1 through 37 of this Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

39. From at least January 2007 through July 2007, Kunen directly and indirectly, by 

use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce and 

by use of the mails, in the offer or sale of securities, knowingly, willfully or recklessly employed 
.. 

devices, schemes or-artifices to defi-aud. 

40. By reason of the foregoing, Kunen, directly and indirectly, violated Section 

17(a)(l) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. 5 77q(a)(l). 

COUNT I1   

FRAUDIN VIOLATION OF   
SECTIONS 17(a)(2) AND 17(a)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT   

41. The Commission repeats and realleges Paragraphs 1 through 37 of its Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

42. From at least January 2007 through July 2007, Kunen directly and indirectly, by 

use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce and 



by the use of the mails, in the offer or sale of securities, has: (a) obtained money or property by 

means of untrue statements of material facts and omissions to state material facts necessary to 

make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 

misleading; andlor (b) engaged in transactions, practices and courses of business which have 

operated as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers of such securities. 

43. By reason of the foregoing, Kunen directly and indirectly, violated Sections 

17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77(q)(a)(2) and 77(q)(a)(3). 

COUNT 111 

FRAUD IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 10(b)   
OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE lob-5 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER   

44. The Commission repeats and realleges Paragraphs 1 through 37 of this Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

45. From at least January 2007 through July 2007, Kunen, directly and indirectly, by 

use of the means and instrumentality of interstate commerce, and of the mails in connection with 

the purchase or sale of securities, knowingly, willfully or recklessly: (a) employed devices, 

schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material facts and omitted to state 

material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances 

under which they were made, not misleading; and/or (c) engaged in acts, practices and courses of 

business which have operated as afiaud upon the purchasers of such securities. 

46. By reason of the foregoing, Kunen directly or indirectly, violated Section 10(b) of 
-.---

the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. 5 78j(b), and Rule lob-5, 17 C.F.R. 8 240. lob-5. 



- - 

RELIEF REQUESTED   

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court:   

I. Declaratory Relief 

Declare, determine and find that Kunen committed the violations of the federal securities   

laws alleged in this Complaint.   

11. Disglorglement 

Issue an Order requiring the Kunen Estate to disgorge all ill-gotten profits or proceeds it 

received as a result of the acts andlor courses of conduct complained of herein, with prejudgment 

interest. 

111. Asset Freeze and Accounting 

Issue an Order freezing the assets of the Kunen Estate, until further Order of the Court, 

and requiring from Defendant Morgan a document sworn to before a notary public setting forth 

all assets (whether real or personal) and accounts (including, but not limited to, bank accounts, 

savings accounts, securities or brokerage accounts, and deposits of any kind) in which the Kunen 

Estate (whether solely or jointly), directly or indirectly (including through a corporation, trust or 
. - - - - -- --.- - - ..-

partnership), either has an interest or over which it has the power or right to exercise control. 

IV. Appointment of Receiver 

Issue an Order appointing a Receiver over the Kunen Estate, to marshal and safeguard all 

of said assets, to perform any other duties the Court deems appropriate, and to prepare a report to 

the Court and the Commission detailing the activities of the Kunen Estate, and the whereabouts 

of investor funds. 

V. Records Preservation 

Issue an Order requiring Defendant Morgan to preserve any records related to the subject 

matter of this lawsuit that are in the Kunen Estate's custody, possession or control. 



VI. Further Relief 

Grant such other and further relief as may be necessary and appropriate. 

VII. Retention of Jurisdiction 

Further, the Commission respectfully requests the Court retain jurisdiction over this 

action in order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders and decrees that may hereby be 

entered, or to entertain any suitable application or motion by the Commission for additional 

relief within the jurisdiction of this Court. 

Respectfully submitted, 

August 23,2007 

Florida Bar No. 15797 1 
Direct Dial: (305) 982-6379 

Salvatore Massa 
Senior Counsel 
Wisconsin Bar No. 1029907 
Direct Dial: (305) 416-6270 

Attorneys for P l a ~ i f f  -- --  

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
80 1 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1800 
Miami, Florida 33 13 1 
Telephone: (305) 982-6300 
Facsimile: (305) 536-4154 


